1986

Mark A. Wood v. Harry M. Weenig and Erma P. Weenig, his wife : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the refusal of the trial court to set aside a default judgment entered against appellant in February of 1980.

DISPOSITION IN TRIAL COURT

Plaintiff filed an action against defendant Harry M. Weenig and appellant Erma P. Weenig on July 30, 1979 (R. 2-4)

claiming that Harry's conveyance of all of his interest in the family home to Erma was fraudulent. The complaint was purportedly served on Mrs. Weenig on August 9, 1979, when, according to the constable's return of service, a copy of the complaint and summons was left with Jane Doe, an unidentified person who the constable stated was a person of suitable age residing at the usual place of abode of appellant within the meaning of Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 4(e)(1). An amended complaint was filed on August 28, 1976 (R. 15-20); no copy of that complaint was ever served upon appellant.

A default judgment was taken against Mrs. Weenig on February 6, 1980. (R. 36 & 37). The plaintiff made no attempt to enforce this judgment until the Spring of 1984. Appellant by affidavit stated that she first learned of the default judgment when her attorney, Clifford V. Dunn, investigated a praecipe taped to the window of her home on April 11, 1984. Six days later, on April 17, 1984, Mrs. Weenig, through counsel, filed a motion to set aside the default judgment on the ground that process had never been served upon her (R. 44-67).

The motion to set aside the default judgment was thereafter heard by the trial court on May 2, 1984, the Honorable J. Dennis Fredrick presiding. After hearing the testimony proffered by the parties, the trial court denied

appellant's motion (R. 101, 110-118). Appellant thereupon filed a notice of appeal on May 7, 1984 (R. 104), and present counsel for the appellant filed a protective notice of appeal (R. 124-125) on June 26, 1984.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the district court denying her motion to set aside the default judgment, and requests that this Court dismiss the action against her based on the non-service upon her. Alternatively, appellant requests that this Court vacate the judgment against appellant and remand this matter to the district court and direct that court to permit her to file her answer and hear her defenses to the complaint against her.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 30, 1979, Mark Wood, respondent in this action, filed a complaint against Harry M. Weenig and appellant Erma M. Weenig, his wife, seeking to set aside as fraudulent the transfer by quitclaim deed, nearly three years earlier, of all of Harry M. Weenig's right, title, and interest in the family's residence at 4464 Covecrest Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah to appellant (R. 2-4). Appellant contends that this transfer was made for good and valuable consideration. Mr.

Wood pursues this action in an effort to collect on a \$200,000 judgment obtained against Harry Weenig over five years earlier in an Indiana state court (R. 2), which was later entered as a judgment in the Third District Court for the State of Utah (R. 22-23).

The complaint in the fraudulent conveyance action was purportedly served upon Mrs. Weenig by delivering a copy of it to Jane Doe, the unidentified daughter of the appellant, at the family residence on August 9, 1979 (R. 12). The return of service was signed by Frank E. Spriggs, Deputy Constable Murray Precinct (R. 12). At the evidentiary hearing on appellant's motion to set aside the default judgment, Mr. Spriggs testified that he took the summons and complaint to the Weenig home, rang the doorbell, and had a conversation with an unseen, unnamed person over an intercom system who allegedly identified herself as the appellant's daughter (R. 161). After describing several minutes of conversation during which the unseen person continued to refuse to identify herself by name and declined to open the door, Mr. Spriggs testified:

After about 10 minutes of this going on, I got upset and told the person that I was going to fill a summons and complaint out and leave it on the porch, and they [sic] said that they [sic] did not have to accept it and I just said, you are served. And I left.

(R. 161, emphasis added).

Less than one page later, Mr. Spriggs contradicted his earlier testimony:

Q Was there any communications with you and the person behind the door as to what the papers were that you had for Mrs. Weenig?

A No. I just said they were legal papers, and I didn't tell them that, you know, it was a warrant or summons or anything. I just said I have some legal papers that I had to deliver.

(R. 162, emphasis added).

Mrs. Weenig and her two daughters also testified at the hearing. Mrs. Weenig testified that she had never been served with any papers in the case (R. 138, 140-41), and her daughters testified that they had never received papers and had never gone through the experience described by the constable (R. 142-45).

Plaintiff filed an amended complaint on August 29, 1979, naming not only Harry M. Weenig and Erma P. Weenig, but also the Lockhart Company and Prudential Federal Savings and Loan Association, as defendants (R. 15-20). That complaint was served upon the finance company defendants, but no service was even attempted on appellant (R. 24-28). All of the defendants, except appellant, conceded to having received process and entered appearances.

A default judgment was entered against Mrs. Weenig on February 6, 1980, pursuant to a minute entry of the Honorable

Homer F. Wilkinson, Third District Court Judge (R. 36). The judgment declared void the quitclaim deed between the Weenigs and "granted a Writ of Execution upon the property so conveyed" (R. 37).

The plaintiff made no attempt to enforce this judgment until the Spring of 1984. Appellant, on the 17th day of April, 1984, filed a motion to set aside the default judgment (R. 66), declaring in an affidavit that she first learned of the judgment taken against her in her absence on April 11, 1984, when a praecipe was taped to the window of her home informing her that her home was to be sold at a Sheriff's Sale less than a month later. (R. 56 & 62-63.) The praecipe captioned the case in controversy as Mark Wood vs. Harry M. Weenig. No other defendants were listed (R. 56).

The motion to set aside came before the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, the Honorable J. Dennis Fredrick presiding, on May 2, 1984. After hearing the testimony of the parties and examining the exhibits introduced into evidence, the court denied the motion (R. 175-76). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT IN LIGHT OF THE RECOGNIZED POLICY IN FAVOR OF GRANTING SUCH MOTIONS.

This Court has long recognized the general policy that "courts should be liberal in granting relief against judgments

taken by default to the end that controversies may be tried on the merits." Mason v. Mason, 597 P.2d 1322, 1323 (Utah 1979). Although this Court has also noted that the decision whether to grant a motion to set aside is left to the discretion of the trial court, see Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 30 Utah 2d 65, 67-68, 513 P.2d 429 (1973), appellant contends that the trial court gave insufficient weight to this presumption in favor of setting aside default judgments and, consequently, abused its discretion. Indeed, appellant contends that the trial court's decision on the service of process issue was erroneous as a matter of law.

POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE HAD BEEN NO SERVICE OF PROCESS.

In Utah State Department of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983), this Court held that

In order for [a] defendant to be relieved from [a] default judgment, he must not only show that the judgment was entered against him through excusable neglect (or any other reason specified in Rule 60(b)), but he must also show that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and that he has a meritorious defense to the action.

Id. at 1055-56. The trial judge in the case at bar concluded that appellant had failed to establish the elements articulated in Musselman (R. 175-76). Indeed, in the findings of fact and conclusions of law prepared by plaintiff-respondent's attorney

and adopted by the district court, that court concluded that appellant's motion to set aside was untimely as a matter of law, that appellant had failed to raise a meritorious defense, and that, as a matter of law, service of process was proper (R. 116-117). These conclusions of law are erroneous.

Initially, it is necessary to recognize that, presuming the invalidity of service of process, appellant's apparent untimeliness under Rule 4 and her alleged failure to raise a meritorious defense before the trial court are irrelevant. If service of process was not properly effectuated, the trial court failed to obtain jurisdiction over appellant and any judgment rendered below is, of necessity, void. This court so held in Murdock v. Blake, 26 Utah 2d 22, 484 P.2d 164 (1971). In Murdock the court held void a judgment entered against a corporation on the grounds that process was not properly served upon the corporation's designated agent. Id. at 166-167. The Court found it irrelevant that the corporation may have had actual knowledge of the suit against it, stating:

Service of summons in conformance with the mode prescribed by statute is deemed jurisdictional, for it is service of process, not actual knowledge of the commencement of the action, which confers jurisdiction. . . . The proper issuance and service of summons is the means of invoking the jurisdiction of the court and acquiring jurisdiction over the defendant; these cannot be supplanted by mere notice by letter, telephone or any other such means.

Id. at 167.

An example of the application of this concept -- that the other two elements of the Musselman standard are irrelevant if process was not properly served -- is found in this Court's decision in Woody v. Rhodes, 23 Utah 2d 249, 461 P.2d 465 (1969). In that case, the Court upheld the trial court's decision setting aside a judgment by default despite the fact that the motion to set aside was not filed until over a year after the entry of the default judgment. The Court stated:

It is the plaintiff's contention here that the provisions of Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, required that the defendant file his motion within a period of not more than three months after entry of the judgment. It is quite apparent in this case that the facts show an invalid service of summons. . . . The service of summons being fatally defective, the judgment entered pursuant thereto is without force or effect and the court acted properly in setting it aside. The three-months provision provided for in Rule 60(b) has no application to this situation.

Id. at 466. See also Stan Katz Real Estate, Inc. v. Chavez, 565 P.2d 1142, 1143 n.2 (Utah 1977).

Waiver of the timeliness requirement in this case, in addition to being legally compelled under Woody v. Rhodes, is warranted on equitable grounds. As noted above, plaintiff delayed over four years in attempting to execute the default judgment he had obtained. Appellant testified that she did not learn of the default judgment until notice was given of the Sheriff's sale. Her motion to set aside the judgment was filed

six days later. The law can hardly require clairvoyance of defendants who are never served and against whom execution of judgment is not sought within the three-month period. See, e.g., Tonelson v. Haines, 2 Ariz. App. 127, 406 P.2d 845, 846 (1965) (delay in filing Rule 60(b) motion to set aside excused when plaintiff made no effort to execute the judgment until more than six months thereafter).

It is clear that if appellant is successful in prevailing on her contention that service of process was never made upon her within the meaning of Rule 4, the default judgment entered against her must be vacated and appellant must be given a chance to pursue her defenses on the merits, regardless of the untimeliness of her motion or her alleged failure to assert a meritorious defense before the trial court. Service of process was not properly made in this case.

Rule 4(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that:

Personal service within the state shall be as follows:

- (1) Upon a natural person of the age of 14 years or over, by delivering a copy thereof to him personally, or by leaving such a copy at his usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion there residing; or by delivering a copy to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process.

Appellant submits that, as a matter of law, no valid service of process was made upon her even assuming the substantive validity of the constable's testimony.

The cases cited by plaintiff in the trial court, Business and Professional Adjustment Co. v. Baker, 62 Or. App. 237, 659 P.2d 1025 (1983), and United Pacific Insurance Co. v. Discount Co., 15 Wash. App. 559, 550 P.2d 699 (1976), are clearly distinguishable from the case at bar. In Baker, a deputy sheriff approached the defendant's residence in order to serve process upon him, knocked on the door and, there being no response, called the defendant's name. A voice from within the house, which the sheriff recognized to be the voice of the defendant as a result of an interview he had with the defendant earlier, responded "go away, leave me alone." The deputy immediately announced in a loud voice that the defendant had been served and placed the papers between the door and the door jam of the residence. Id. at 1026. In this case, conversely, the constable's alleged conversation occurred with an unnamed and unrecognized member of the household, concededly not the defendant herself. The constable merely left the papers on the front porch, not fixed to the door or under anything that would prevent the papers from being blown away or destroyed. See id. at 1027. (R. 166).

The United Pacific Insurance case is similarly distinguishable. In United Pacific Insurance the process

server went to the defendant's house and saw the defendant face to face. When the defendant learned of the process server's identity and purpose, she slammed the door in the server's face, knocking the papers from his hand. The server yelled to defendant that she had been legally served and left the papers on the porch. Id. at 700. This case is again distinguishable from the case at bar in that the server dealt with the defendant herself, not another person. In addition, the process server had visually identified the person with whom he dealt, and knew of a surety that the defendant was in the vicinity when he declared that she had been legally served.

The importance of the identified distinctions between the cases cited by plaintiff in the trial court and the case at bar is demonstrated by examining an analogous case from the Court of Appeals of Arizona -- Tonelson v. Haines, 2 Ariz. App. 127, 406 P.2d 845 (1965). In that case, the process server testified that he went to the defendant's home and conversed with the defendant's wife. He claimed that when he informed the woman of his purpose she slammed the door in his face. As the door was being closed in his face, "the process server testified that . . . he stated in a normal tone of voice, 'Lady, you have been served,' that he left the summons and complaint between the wooden door and the screen door of the home; and that thereafter he went on his way without noticing

where the papers lay." Id. at 846. The defendant's wife testified before the trial court that she was unaware at the time of the incident that service was being attempted or that the summons and complaint had been left on the doorstep. Id. The Court of Appeals of Arizona upheld the trial court's decision setting aside the default judgment, holding that "in order for there to be a ' . . . leaving . . . with . . . ' a person a copy of the summons and complaint, as required by Rule 4[(e)], . . . such person must be aware of the 'leaving.'" Id. at 847.

The Arizona Court's reasoning should control this case. Indeed, the facts in the Arizona case provide a much stronger basis for a conclusion that the person served was aware of the papers being left than the facts at bar. In Tonelson the process server viewed the person with whom service was left face to face. The woman undoubtedly saw the papers in the server's hand, and must have been within hearing distance at the time he declared, "Lady, you have been served." In addition, the server placed the papers between the screen and the door, not loose on the porch where they could be blown away. Id. at 846. The occupant of the defendant's home on the day in question had much less opportunity to know that the papers had been left than did the defendant's wife in Tonelson. Constable Spriggs never saw the person with whom he

allegedly left the papers. He had no way of knowing whether the occupant was within hearing distance when he became frustrated, announced his conclusion that in his mind legal service had been made, and left the premises. Indeed, depending on which version of the constable's story one believes (see supra, pp. 4-5), it is not clear whether the occupant would have been aware that a summons and complaint were left even if she had been within hearing distance. It is uncontroverted that the papers were simply left on the porch, not put inside the door or underneath a mat (K. 166).


The key element of Rule 4(e), as interpreted by the Arizona court, "that the person 'with' whom the papers are left must have knowledge that the papers are so left," Id. at 847, has not been established in this case. Indeed, no finding of fact was made on this issue by the trial court. The case should at least be remanded to the trial court to make such a finding.

CONCLUSION

This court must vacate the default judgment entered against the appellant in the court below. Where a judgment has been taken upon invalid service, the court has never acquired jurisdiction, and a valid judgment cannot be entered. Accordingly, the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set

aside the default judgment entered against Mrs. Weenig in this case.