1986

# Mark A. Wood v. Harry M. Weenig and Erma P. Weenig, his wife : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE LOWER COURT JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED AS  
IT WAS BASED ON THE TRIAL COURT'S EVALUATION OF THE  
CREDITABILITY OF THE WITNESSES AND THEIR EVIDENCE

At the hearing in the lower court on May 2, 1984, plaintiff and defendant presented evidence in support of and in opposition to the motion of Erma to set aside the default judgment. At the conclusion of such evidence and the arguments of counsel, the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick determined that plaintiff's witnesses were more believable than defendants and found in plaintiff's favor on that basis as follows:

The court: very well. With regard to this matter, counsel, as is generally the case, the issues here would have to do with the credibilty of the witnesses because there is conflicting testimony. The court has not been impressed with the candor or testimony of Mrs. Weenig. It has not been convincing. As far as I am concerned, the evidence has established that the elements comprising the tests set forth in the Musselman case, the 1983 case, have not been met. Accordingly, the motion to set aside the default judgment is denied. (R. at 175-76) (Emphasis added)

The Utah Supreme Court has repeatedly held that if the findings of the trial court are supported by evidence which is substantial, competent and admissable, its judgment will not be substituted for that of the trial court. Dang v. Cox Corp., 655 P.2d 658 (Utah 1982); Jensen v. Brown, 639 P.2d 150 (Utah 1981); Meese v. Brigham Young University, 639 P.2d 720 (Utah 1981); Cannon v. Wright, 531 P.2d 1290 (Utah 1975); People's Finance and Thrift Company of Ogden v. Doman, 27 Utah 2d 404, 497 P.2d 17 (Utah 1972); Staples Excavation and Erection Co. v. Weyher Construction Co., 26 Utah 2d 387, 490 P.2d 330 (Utah 1971); and De Vas v. Noble, 13 Utah 2d 123, 369 P.2d 290 (Utah 1962). This is because the trial court, having heard and viewed the witnesses and their testimony, is in a better position to weigh and evaluate the same. The rule is best stated in Staples Excavation at 333 as follows:

It would appear that this court is asked to review issues of fact rather than issues of law. A review of the pertinent parts of the record before us leads us to the conclusion that the trial court could fairly and reasonably remain unconvinced that the appellants here had established their claim of damages by a preponderance of the evidence. Being an action at law, we are not at liberty to interfere with the findings of the court below unless such findings are arbitrary or have no basis in the record. In the case before us the

record reveals numerous and wide conflicts in the evidence which only the trial judge was in a position to evaluate. As to the appellants' claim that the court failed to give proper credance to the testimony of their witnesses which was uncontrodicted, this too was a matter for the trial court to weigh.

A review of the record fails to establish a reasonable basis to reverse the decision of the court below. The decision of the trial court having been made upon disputed and contradictory evidence, it would appear that the rule we have enunciated in numerous cases, that the trial court being in an advantaged position from having heard the testimony of the witnesses and observed their demeanor is better able to determine issues of fact than is this court upon a written record. We therefore conclude that the decision and judgment of the court below must be affirmed.

The rule is further supported by the case of Tonelson v. Haines, 2 Ariz. App. 127 406 P.2d 845 (1965) cited by appellants in their brief. In that case, the appellate court left to the trial court the task of evaluating the creditbility of the witnesses and their evidence. In so doing, the court affirmed the lower court's decision that service of process was improper.

In the present case the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick, Third District Court Judge, decided in plaintiff's favor because the defendant's witnesses were unbelievable. His findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered in accordance therewith. As stated numerous times by this court, the trial court is in a better position to evaluate the creditability of the witnesses and the party's evidence and will not be reversed on appeal if there is evidence in support of such findings and the trial court has not abused its discretion.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT JUDGMENT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED AS DEFENDANT FAILED TO SATISFY THE REQUIRMENTS FOR SETTING ASIDE A DEFAULT JUDGMENT UNDER RULE 60(b) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

In their docketing statement at 5, Weenigs state that the trial court erred in refusing to set aside the default judgment against Erma on the basis that (a) she was not served in this action in accordance with Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and (b) she has a meritorious defense to the fraudulent conveyance action which she should have been permitted to raise. The problem with those issues is that the lower court specifically found that Erma was served in accordance with Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the record on appeal is utterly void of any meritorious defense which she may have to the fraudulent conveyance action. She did not raise a meritorious defense in the lower court. The first time that a meritorious defense was raised by Erma was in the docketing statement, filed with the Utah Supreme Court, at 2 where she states that the conveyance which plaintiff alleges was fraudulent as to himself was made by Harry M. Weenig to Erma P. Weenig for good and valuable consideration.

In order for Weenigs to have the default judgment set aside, they must satisfy three requirements as set forth in the recent Utah Supreme Court case of State of Utah v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055 (Utah 1983) as follows:

In order for the defendant to be relieved from the default judgment, he must not only show that the judgment was entered against him through excusable neglect [or any other reason specified in Rule 60(b)], but he must also show that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and that he has a meritorious defense to the action.

Weenig's have failed to satisfy those three requirements as is shown by the record below.

a. Defendant's motion to set aside judgment was untimely.

Erma made her motion to set aside the default judgment under Rule 60(b)(4) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which provides that a party may be relieved from a final judgment as follows:

On motion upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons . . . (4) when, for any cause, the Summons in an action has not been personally served upon the defendant as required by Rule 4(e) and the defendant has failed to appear in said action . . . . The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1), (2), (3) or (4), not more than three months after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken. (emphasis added)

Rule 60(b) is clear that a motion for relief from a judgment based upon improper service of the Summons must be made within three months of the judgment. In this action, the judgment was entered on February 6, 1980, and docketed on February 8, 1980. Erma's motion was made more than four years after the entrance and docketing of said judgment. Said motion was clearly outside the time requirement set forth in Rule 60(b).

In the lower court, Erma relied upon the case of Woody v. Rhodes, 23 Utah 2d 249, 461 P.2d 465 (1969) for the proposition that the three month provision of Rule 60(b) has no application where service of process is defective. Defendants and respondents have also cited such case as controlling in their docketing statement filed in this court. That case is inapplicable to the case presently before the court for several reasons. First, the summons and complaint in this case were properly served upon defendant Erma P. Weenig at her usual place of abode by leaving the same with her daughter who was a person of suitable age and discretion there residing. Second, in the Woody case an ambiguity arose as to which defendant process was being served upon. In Woody, process was left with the wife of one of the defendants but the return indicated that it had been served upon another of the defendants who did not reside at the home where service was made. Because of the ambiguity, the Utah Supreme Court held that service was defective and the three month period was inapplicable. In the present case, there is no such ambiguity. It is clear from both the summons and the return, the testimony below and the lower court's findings that service was being made upon Erma P. Weenig and that she was the person who needed to respond to the complaint in order to avoid a default judgment being entered against her.

Third, not only was defendant Erma P. Weenig properly served with the summons and complaint in this action, but she received notice of such case pursuant to a notice of deposition which was mailed to her personally and a notice of lis pendens which was recorded with the Salt



Lake County Recorder on the real property in which she resided. It is therefore clear that the Woody case is distinguishable, that the time period of Rule 60(b) is inapplicable and the lower court's decision should be summarily affirmed in accordance with the lower court's finding that Erma's motion was untimely.

b. The lower court's judgment should be affirmed as defendant Erma P. Weenig failed to present a meritorious defense.

As set forth in the Musselman case, a default judgment will not be set aside under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure unless the defendant sets forth a meritorious defense to the complaint in said action. The record on appeal is void of any evidence, or even arguments or statements of counsel, as to a meritorious defense which Erma P. Weenig may have to the fraudulent conveyance action. The first time that Erma raised a meritorious defense is in the docketing statement at 2 where she states that the conveyance of the home by Harry M. to Erma P. Weenig was made for good and valuable consideration. The law is clear and this court has repeatedly held that matters, including evidence, "not offered at the hearing cannot be considered for the first time on appeal." Utah Department of Transportation v. Fuller, 603 P.2d 814, 817 (Utah 1979); Edgar v. Wagner, 572 P.2d 405 (Utah 1977); Reliable Furniture Co. v. Fidelity and Guarantee Insurance Underwriters, Inc., 14 Utah 2d 169 380 P.2d 135 (Utah 1963); and Pilcher v. State, Dept. of Social Services, 663 P.2d 450 (Utah 1983).

Counsel for Wood has reviewed the transcript of the lower court proceeding as well as the record in an attempt to discover any evidence or mention of a meritorious defense which Erma may have presented to the lower court. The only mention of a meritorious defense is contained in Finding of Fact number 15 (R. at 116) and Conclusion of Law number 4 (R. at 117). Both the finding of fact and conclusion of law of the lower court state in effect that defendant Erma P. Weenig failed to present any evidence that would suggest or establish a meritorious defense to the fraudulent conveyance action. Inasmuch as Erma failed to present a meritorious defense to the fraudulent conveyance action in the lower court, she is precluded from doing so for the first time on appeal.

- c. The lower court judgment should be affirmed as service of process on defendant Erma P. Weenig was in accordance with Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Weenigs state in their docketing statement and in Appellant's Brief that the summons and complaint in the fraudulent conveyance action was not personally served upon defendant as required by Rule 4(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. For that reason they argue they should be granted relief from the judgment under Rule 60(b) of such rules. Such argument is directly contrary to the conclusion of law of the lower court (R. at 116 ¶ 1) which states as follows:

The summons and complaint in the above-entitled fraudulent conveyance action were properly served in accordance with Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure upon defendant

Erma P. Weenig by Frank E. Spriggs, Deputy Constable for John A. Sindt, Constable, Murray Precinct, by leaving a copy thereof at Mrs. Weenig's usual place of abode with her daughter over the age of fourteen, who qualified as a person of suitable age and discretion there residing.

It is also contrary to the decision of courts from other jurisdictions which have held on similar facts that service of process was proper in accordance with rules for service similar to those contained in Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Business and Professional Adjustment Co. v. Baker, 62 Or. App. 237, 659 P.2d 1025 (Or. App. 1983) and United Pacific Insurance Co. v. Discount Co., 15 Wash. App. 559, 550 P.2d 699 (1976).

In the Baker case, the constable knocked on the door of the defendant's residence in order to serve the summons and complaint upon him. The defendant yelled in a loud voice for the constable to go away. The constable recognized the defendant by his voice because he had communicated with him on a prior occasion for forty-five minutes. The constable responded in a loud voice that he was serving the papers and that the defendant had been served. The constable then left the papers on the front porch. The Oregon appellate court specifically held that service upon the defendant was proper and that a defendant could not avoid service by refusing to identify himself or accept the papers as follows:

The rules do not require an actual in-hand delivery, or a face-to-face encounter with an acknowledgement of identity from the person to be served, as defendant argues they do. To so require would allow a defendant to defeat service simply by refusing to identify himself or accept the papers. It would make personal service a degrading game of wiles and

tricks, rather than a procedure for insuring that a defendant received actual notice of the subject and pendency of an action.

Baker at 1027.

In the United Pacific case, the defendant opened the front door of her residence in the process server's presence. When the process server told her who he was and that he had some legal papers for her, she slammed the door knocking the papers from his hand. The process server then stated in a loud voice that she had been served and left. The papers never actually touched the defendant's hand but were knocked from the constable's possession by the action of the defendant in slamming the door. The Washington Appellate Court held at 700-01 that service of process was valid as follows:

RCW 4.28.080 provides in part:

The summons shall be served by delivering a copy thereof as follows:

. . . . .

(9) If the suit be against a company or corporation other than those designated in the preceding subdivisions of this section, to the president or other head of the company or corporation, secretary, cashier, or managing agent thereof or to the secretary, stenographer or office assistant of the president or other head of the company or corporation, secretary, cashier or managing agent.

. . . . .

(14) In all other cases to the defendant personally, or by leaving a copy of the summons at the house of his usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein.

Service made in the modes provided in this section shall be taken and be held to be personal service.

\* \* \* \*

The facts in the case at bench demonstrate a clear attempt by the process server to yield possession and control of the documents to Mrs. Norelius while he was positioned in a manner to accomplish that act. Normal "delivery" thereof would have been affected upon Mrs. Norelius except for her obvious attempt to evade service by slamming the door after the papers had been held out to her. The summons need not actually be placed in the defendant's hand. We find, as did the trial court, that facts in the record supported conclusion that "delivery" occurred and service was effected.

Appellants argue in their brief at 12-14 that the reasoning of the Arizona Appellate Court in Tonelson V. Haines, 2 Ariz. App. 127, 406 P.2d 845 (1965) should be adopted by this court to the effect that service is not valid unless the person being served knows papers are being left with him. The problem with appellant's argument is that the Tonelson decision is based on a specific finding of the lower court that the person there being served was unaware that service was being attempted and she did not do anything to defeat service. The lower court in this case made opposite findings and conclusions.

Contrary to appellant's arguments, the holding in Tonelson is simply that the appellate court will not substitute its judgment for the trial court as to the credibility of the witnesses and their evidence. This is clear from the language of the court at 846-847 as follows:

After hearing the evidence, the trial court found as follows:

"There is no dispute in the evidence in relation to the fact that the defendant was at his home at the time in question; as to the fact that Mr. Estein called at the defendant's home at the time in question; as to the fact that Mrs. Haines was then a member of the family of the defendant and that the same Mrs. Haines answered the door;

and that the copy of the complaint and summons were not physically placed in the possession of Mrs. Haines at the time in question. The court need not decide the law point as to whether or not the leaving of a copy of the complaint and summons on the premises and in the vicinity of an individual following that individual's refusal to accept the same constitutes good service."

"The purpose of the visit of Mr. Estein was not presented to Mrs. Haines in such manner that she heard and understood the fact that Mr. Estein was there for the purpose of serving process upon the defendant. This being so, the fact of leaving the same between the screen door and the front door does not constitute service. There was no intentional act on the part of Mrs. Haines designed to knowingly attempt to defeat the service of process."

On appeal, the contention is made that the undisputed facts constitute service as a matter of law and that the trial court neither had discretion, nor abused its discretion, in setting aside the default and default judgment.

In *Eldridge v. Jagger*, 83 Ariz. 150, 317 P.2d 942 (1957), our Supreme Court said:

"It is a well-established rule of law that the return of service of process can be impeached only by clear and convincing evidence." 83 Ariz. 150, 152, 317 P.2d 942, 943.

In this same case, however, the court also said: "However, the trial judge, in hearing the testimony and in observing the demeanor and manner of the witnesses in testifying as to conflicting facts, concluded that the defendant Jagger had not been served with summons and should be given an opportunity to litigate a disputed obligation. We have repeatedly held an application to open, vacate or set aside a judgment is within the sound discretion of the trial court and its action will not be disturbed by this court except for a clear abuse of discretion." 83 Ariz. 150, 152, 317 P.2d 942, 944.

We hold that in order for there to be a " \* \* \* leaving \* \* \* with \* \* \*" a person a copy of the summons and complaint, as required by Rule 4(d), supra, such person must be aware of the "leaving." We have not been cited a decision directly in point. Generally, when personal service is attempted, the person served must be apprised in some

that the person "with" whom the papers are left must have knowledge that the papers are so left. Otherwise service might be accomplished by surreptitiously placing papers in a person's pocket, or by other means not likely to bring about actual notice.